ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- I. The Circuit Court of Marion County erred in deciding questions of proximate cause, intervening cause, and/or superseding cause as a matter of law where genuine issues of material fact exist.
- II. The Circuit Court of Marion County erred by misinterpreting and/or misapplying applicable West Virginia Code sections and/or West Virginia common law.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On March 7, 2016, Plaintiff filed her Complaint in this action in her individually capacity, and as both the Next Friend of Ozzmond Michael and as the Administratrix of the Estate of Raymond Dale Michael. As set forth further in the Complaint and Amended Complaint, this matter arises from the circumstances and events which occurred on the night of March 29 through the early morning of March 30, 2014, wherein Respondent Westchester Limited Liability Company, d/b/a Westchester Village ["Westchester"] unlawfully served intoxicating beverages to minors, which minors thereafter left Respondent Westchester's premises. Said minors then gathered with other intoxicated minors at Goal Rush, another facility which unlawfully served intoxicating beverages to minors. From Goal Rush, a total of five minors in issue departed in two vehicles, with Carrie Bragg's vehicle in front and Marshall Morris's vehicle following. Carrie Bragg's vehicle proceeded until it struck Raymond Dale Michael, causing pain, suffering, and Mr. Michael's untimely death, and fled the scene. Mr. Michael's death caused great sorrow; mental anguish; loss of solace, loss of society, companionship, guidance, kindly offices, and advice; loss of future services, protection, care and assistant; as well as the incurrence of funeral and burial expenses for their loved one to Mr. Michael's heirs and the beneficiaries of his estate.

After preliminary discovery, Respondent filed a Motion for Summary Judgment and

Petitioner responded. A hearing was held on March 14, 2017. At that time, the Circuit Court denied the motion and granted Petitioner leave to amend the complaint. APP 00235-00243. At that time, the Circuit Court determined “But I would -- I think I would be at risk to grant the summary judgment at this point. Assuming that either side would take it up, I believe the Supreme Court would be more likely to reverse me if I granted summary judgment as opposed to not granting it.” APP 0031. Specifically, the Circuit Court stated:

Having permitted the amendments discussed supra, the Court finds that the following issues of fact persist for jury determination: (1) Westchester's duty with regard to preventing Carrie Bragg, a citizen under the age of twenty-one (21) years, from being served and/or consuming alcohol to a state of intoxication while on its premises (2) Westchester's alleged breach of that duty by allowing, knowingly or negligently, alcohol to be served to Carrie Bragg; (3) the proximate causation/foreseeability of an intoxicated Carrie Bragg's entrustment of her vehicle to another intoxicated person; (4) the proximate causation/foreseeability that such entrustment could cause the incident which resulted in the death [of] Raymond Michael; and (4) the existence of any intervening or superseding causes.

APP 00241.

Petitioner amended the complaint and subsequent discovery occurred; however, the discovery did not change the fundamental facts as they existed in March of 2017, but revealed additional issues of fact and called into question the testimony of the witnesses regarding the events. Despite the lack of change, Westchester filed a second Motion for Summary Judgment which the Circuit Court granted on August 30, 2017. APP 00479-00498. Even though the earlier factual issues were not resolved, and additional material facts had been discovered, the Circuit Court granted the Motion for Summary Judgment.

The tragic events of this hit and run were investigated by Chief Steven Ronald Shine of the Fairmont Police Department. Chief Shine's deposition gave rise to several factual issues which merited resolution by the trier of fact. His testimony created a reasonable question

regarding the occurrences of the night in question, as well as the credibility of key players involved. Chief Shine specifically testified that Cole Valentine's "narrative changed as the confession went on." APP 00346. Chief Shine further testified that Cole Valentine and others stopped twice after hitting Mr. Michael and conversed prior to going to their respective destinations. APP 00347-00348. Carrie Bragg's statement to the police also reflected that the individuals in her car and the individuals in the following vehicle had stopped and conversed after striking Mr. Michael. APP 00349-00350. Based on these statements even Chief Shine testified that additional information could have aided in establishing what actually went on the evening Mr. Michael was struck and killed: phone records, social media records, text records, etc. APP 00351-00352. Similarly, notes taken by Chief Shine while interviewing Mr. Valentine give rise to questions regarding Mr. Valentine's credibility and his current iteration of what occurred on the night Mr. Michael was killed. APP 00355-00357. It is evident from Chief Shine's notes that Mr. Valentine told him on the night in issue that the Bragg vehicle had hit a person. *Id.* Nonetheless, Mr. Valentine's current version of the events is that he believed they had struck a bag of trash. APP 00360. This is the same colluded version of events provided by individuals in both the Bragg and Morris vehicles.

Fairmont Police Officer Brian Lemley was the initial officer on the scene of the hit and run. Likewise, his testimony created a genuine issue of material fact.

Q: Did you or anyone else ask Mr. Valentine to submit to testing to determine whether or not he was intoxicated?

A. I do not recall.

Q. Is that something that perhaps, in an incident like this, you would like to know?

A. At the time of the incident, of fresh pursuit, yes. I don't - - I don't recall what time later he came in. But if it was hours afterwards, it would have varying circumstances.

Q. It would depend on how drunk someone was at that point in time; wouldn't it?

A. Yes. That. Or the normal, "I went home and had a drink after the collision" or whatever, whatnot.

Q. Right. Kind of opens itself up to more excuses and more ways out of it, doesn't it?

A. Yes ma'am.

APP 00358.

Q. Likewise, you can't rule out, as we sit here today, that the driver of the Bragg vehicle was not intoxicated at the time Mr. Michael was struck?

A. No.

APP 00359.

Moreover, Mr. Valentine provided deposition testimony that could convince a trier of fact that he was dishonest about the night in issue, because he has historically been dishonest about where he was and whether he drank. To wit, Mr. Valentine testified as follows:

Q. How many times, approximately, prior to March 29, 2014, would you say that you and your friends drank underage?

A. I don't know. Just like any other high school kid, I would say.

Q. Kind of every weekend event?

A. Oh, no, not every weekend. My dad would kill me. Of course, he never

knew.

Q. How many times a month?

A. Once or twice.

Q. How did you get home?

A. We usually just camped out.

Q. On nights where you went home, how did you get home?

A. On nights I went home, that was very rare. I would get a ride somewhere.

Q. You said that this was a once – or twice-a-month occurrence, but that was something that you did not tell your parents or that you kept from your parents, correct?

A. Yes.

Q. You did not want your parents to know that you drank; is that fair?

A. That's fair, as with any high school kid.

Q. Fair in March 2014 that you don't want your parents to know you drank that night? Nothing would have changed that night that made you interested in telling your parents that you drank that night, right?

A. I don't know.

Q. You wouldn't have wanted your parents to know you drank that night, either, right?

A. I wouldn't think so.

APP 00361-00362.

In terms of undisputed facts which may give rise to varying conclusions, Carrie Bragg admitted to drinking underage at Westchester in her deposition in this matter:

Q. You drank at Westchester, right?

A. Yes.

[. . .]

Q. And how old were you?

A. 20.

Q. And you drank at Westchester by approaching the bar, correct?

A. I --both by approaching the bar and drinks being provided me.

[. . .]

A. I stood there and drank openly. I didn't -- I mean, there are places where underage people might have to hide their drinks or, but I didn't, I didn't have to hide it or hide behind anyone to drink.

APP 00363-00364.

In addition to Ms. Bragg's testimony, a portion of which is set forth herein, other witnesses testified that Ms. Bragg consumed alcohol at Westchester. Specifically, Rebecca Mayfield, an individual present at Westchester on the night in question testified as follows:

Q. Did you see Carrie Bragg there at the TBI Elimination Dinner?

A. Yes, I did.

Q. Was Carrie or did Carrie appear to be intoxicated?

A. Towards the end of the night, yes.

Q. Okay. And you said Carrie was younger than you; correct?

A. Correct.

Q. Okay. So she would not have been 21 at that time either?

A. Correct.

Q. And when you say at the end of the night, that would go without saying that toward the beginning of the night, I guess, when you saw her, Carrie Bragg did not appear - - did not seem intoxicated.

A. Correct.

Q. Which would infer that she got intoxicated in her time at Westchester, is that fair?

A. Yes ma'am.

APP 00366-00367.

Q. Did you observe anyone else under 21 order drinks from the bar?

A. Yes, I did.

Q. Did you know if they were carded? Did you observe anyone be carded?
Let me ask you that.

A. No, not that I recall.

APP 00368.

Moreover, Westchester's bartender Lisa Schneider, testified that an abundance of alcohol was served at Westchester on the night in question:

Q. What were the policies at Westchester for determining whether someone was of age, or 21 years old, to consume alcohol?

A. You check their ID.

Q. Whose job was that?

A. Mine

Q. As the bartender?

A. Uh-huh.

Q. Is that a yes?

A. Yes.

Q. Did Westchester have anyone at the door to check identification as patrons came in?

A. No.

APP 00369.

Q. Where was the beer located?

A. If the bar is here, it would be on the side, outside, up against a wall.

Q. When you say "outside" – do you mean –

A. On the floor, not behind the bar.

Q. Okay. Was – was the beer provided in bottles or cans or both?

A. Kegs.

Q. How many kegs were there?

A. Two at a time.

Q. Who was manning the kegs, for lack of a better phrase?

A. Nobody. I mean, they would notify somebody when they were empty, and they would replace them up until – as many as they paid for.

[. . .]

Q. And was an employee from Westchester in charge of the keg?

A. Yes.

[. . .]

Q. Who was in charge of monitoring the situation at the kegs to ensure that only people with wristbands were drinking alcohol at the kegs.

A. I don't believe there was anybody standing there monitoring.

Q. So is it true that an underage patron could go over the keg and drink?

A. Yes.

APP 00370-00371, 00374-00375.

Q. Do you know why it was decided there would only be one bartender?

A. Usually to help control the consumption of alcohol.

Q. You told me that the liquor was behind the bar, correct?

A. Correct.

[. . .]

Q. How much and in what quantities?

A. They would be -- they would have liter bottles. They would have half-gallon bottles. They probably had about 15 different types of liquor. And there was a lot. I would say -- at least seven cardboard boxes full.

Q. Did you have any guidance on how much liquor could serve that night?

A. Westchester had a policy that it was two drinks at a time.

Q. Okay. And I guess my specific question is: Was there anything to prevent you from serving all of the alcohol, all of the liquor that had been brought in by the frat?

A. No.

Q. And no one said to you, "Hey. Only serve three boxes versus all of it."

A. They wouldn't have brought it in. No.

Q. They brought it in to have it drank.

A. Yes.

APP 00372-00373.

Westchester was issued a violation of W.Va. Code §60-7-12 from the WV Alcohol Beverage Control Administration for the incident that occurred on March 29, 2014. APP 00256.

That provision states, in pertinent part:

(a) It is unlawful for any licensee, or agent, employee or member thereof, on such licensee's premises to:

[. . .]

(3) Sell, give away or permit the sale of, gift to or the procurement of any nonintoxicating beer, wine or alcoholic liquors for or to, or permit the consumption of nonintoxicating beer, wine or alcoholic liquors on the licensee's premises, by any person less than twenty-one years of age;

(4) Sell, give away or permit the sale of, gift to or the procurement of any nonintoxicating beer, wine or alcoholic liquors, for or to any person known to be deemed legally incompetent, or for or to any person who is physically incapacitated due to consumption of nonintoxicating beer, wine or alcoholic liquor or the use of drugs;

W.Va. Code § 60-7-12. Petitioner also relied upon W.Va. Code §6-3-22 titled "Sales to certain persons prohibited," a more generalized statute, separate from, and in addition to, the statutory duties owed by Westchester, a private club, with a liquor license from the West Virginia Alcohol and Beverage Commission. That statute states, in pertinent part:

(a) Alcoholic liquors and nonintoxicating beer as defined in section three, article sixteen, chapter eleven of this code shall not be sold to a person who is:

(1) Less than twenty-one years of age; [. . .]

(3) Intoxicated; [. . .].

After consideration of this conflicting evidence and the applicable statutory law, the Circuit Court ruled, "no recognized cause of action exists against one who allegedly sells, or serves, alcoholic beverages to an underage individual who did not injure herself or another

through the operation of a motor vehicle, but who, instead, is alleged to have negligently entrusted a motor vehicle to another.” APP 00487. The Circuit Court also ruled, “there is insufficient evidence under W. Va. R. Civ. P. 56 to support a cognizable claim of negligence against Westchester.” APP 00493. Finally, the Circuit Court determined “to the extent the second amended complaint contains an allegation of violation under W. Va. Code § 60-3-22(A)(3), it exceeds the scope of the amendment permitted by the court, and, in any case, there is no genuine issue of fact to support any such a claim.” APP 00496.

In this appeal, Petitioner Heather Humphrey respectfully requests that this Honorable Court reverse the Circuit Court’s grant of summary judgment and remand this matter for a trial on the merits.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The law governing the grant or denial of summary judgment in West Virginia favors allowing plaintiffs a trial on the merits of the case. Rule 56(c) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure requires a party moving for summary judgment to establish that “there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.” W.Va. R. Civ. P., Rule 56 [1998]. The Plaintiff notes that the Court must view all inferences and underlying facts in her favor as they relate to Westchester’s Motion. See *Collard v. Smith Newspapers, Inc.*, 915 F.Supp. 805 (S.D.W.Va. 1996). Moreover, Westchester, despite its best efforts to limit the definitions of materiality and relevance, bears the burden of proving the absence of a genuine issue concerning any material fact. See *Allstate, Inc. v. Aohley*, 833 F.Supp. 583 (S.D.W.Va. 1993)

In West Virginia, the standard for summary judgment is well-settled. “A motion for summary judgment should be granted only when it is clear that there is no genuine issue of fact to

be tried and inquiry concerning the facts is not desirable to clarify the application of the law.” Syl. Pt. 3, *Aetna Casualty & Surety Co. v. Federal Ins. Co. of New York*, 148 W.Va. 160, 133 S.E.2d 770 (1963). Evidence related to a material fact should be viewed in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. *Gentry v. Magnum*, 195 W.Va. 519, 466 S.E.2d 451 (1995). “If there is any evidence in record from any source from which a reasonable inference can be drawn in favor of nonmoving party, summary judgment is improper.” *Hanlon v. Chambers*, 195 W.Va. 99, 464 S.E.2d 741 (1995). “The circuit court’s function at the summary judgment stage is not to weigh the evidence and determine the truth of the matter, but is to determine whether there is a genuine issue for trial.” Syl. Pt. 3, *Painter v. Peavey*, 192 W.Va. 189, 451 S.E.2d 755 (1994). In fact, so disfavored is summary judgment that the Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia has stated; “[e]ven if the trial judge is of the opinion to direct a verdict he should nevertheless ordinarily hear evidence and upon a trial direct a verdict rather than try the case in advance on a motion for summary judgment.” *Thomas v. Goodwin*, 164 W.Va. 770, 776, 266 S.E.2d 792, 795 (1980).

Petitioner is permitted to recover under W. Va. Code § 55-7-9, which provides that “[a]ny person injured by the violation of any statute may recover from the offender such damages as he may sustain by reason of the violation, although a penalty or forfeiture for such violation be thereby imposed, unless the same be expressly mentioned to be in lieu of such damages.”

The evidence clearly establishes that Westchester served Carrie Bragg, an underage individual who was also visibly intoxicated. Carrie Bragg then negligently entrusted her vehicle to another intoxicated individual, Cole Valentine, and/or operated the vehicle herself. In either event, Westchester’s negligence caused the death of Petitioner’s decedent. The Circuit Court failed to appreciate the causation issue: whether an entity which unlawfully serves intoxicating beverages to a minor, and causes that individual to be intoxicated, is responsible for injury or

death to a third party caused by that minor's intoxication. Such causation determinations are for the trier of fact. It was error for the Circuit Court to decide causation, among other things, as a matter of law.¹

The Circuit Court additionally misinterpreted and/or misapplied applicable West Virginia Code sections and/or West Virginia common law. In fact, the Circuit Court completely ignored the common law and the existence of a claim for negligence, which need not arise from a statute.

A definite miscarriage of justice occurred in the present case. Petitioner was prevented from trying her case on the merits, leaving Mr. Michael's family without recourse. The resulting precedent of the Circuit Court determining factual issues cannot stand as precedent. The Decision should be reversed and remanded.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

The issues in this Appeal involve assignments of error in the application of well-settled summary judgment fundamental to the civil trial process in a case with factual circumstances and issues of the application of the law regarding Dram Shop liability. Therefore, a memorandum decision is not appropriate and oral argument under Rule 19 of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure is appropriate.

ARGUMENT

- I. The Circuit Court of Marion County erred in deciding questions of proximate cause, intervening cause, and/or superseding cause as a matter of law where genuine issues of material fact exist.**

It is well-established law in the State of West Virginia that "[t]he questions of negligence, contributory negligence, proximate cause, intervening cause, and concurrent negligence are

¹ The Circuit Court first correctly understood this version of proximate cause and for no apparent reason abandoned this finding upon reconsideration.

questions of fact for the jury where the evidence is conflicting or when the facts, through undisputed, are such that reasonable minds draw different conclusions from them.’ *Marcus v. Staubs*, 230 W.Va. 127, 736 S.E.2d 360 (2012) (quoting Syl. Pt. 2, *Evans v. Farmer*, 148 W.Va. 142, 133 s. E.2d 710) (1963)). Questions of whether subsequent acts of minors were foreseeable to an individual or entity providing alcohol to minors are properly within the province of the jury, and summary judgment on the issue improperly invades “the province of the fact-finder in determining whether [. . .] alleged actions were the proximate cause of the accident at issue.” *Id.* (whether minors subsequent act of stealing a motor vehicle fell on the individual or entity providing alcohol to the minors was a question for the jury.)

The general rule in this regard is that a tortfeasor whose negligence is a substantial factor in bringing about injuries is not relieved from liability by the intervening acts of third persons if those acts were reasonably foreseeable by the original tortfeasor at the time of his negligent conduct. [. . .]

[T]he original negligence continues and operates contemporaneously with an intervening act which might reasonably have been anticipated so that the negligence can be regarded as a concurrent cause of the injury inflicted. One who negligently creates a dangerous condition cannot escape liability for the natural and probable consequences thereof although the act of a third person may have contributed to the final result.

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