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

rational trier of fact to find for the nonmoving party, such as where the nonmoving party has 

failed to make a sufficient showing on an essential element of the case that it has the burden to 

prove." Painter v. Peavy, syl. pt. 4, 192 W. Va. 189,451 S.E.2d 755 (1994). See also Williams 

v. Precision Coil. Inc., syl. pt. 2, 194 W. Va. 52, 459 S.E.2d 329 (1995) ("Summary judgment is 

appropriate if, from the totality of the evidence presented, the record could not lead a rational 

trier of fact to find for the nonmoving party, such as where the nonmoving party has failed to 

make a sufficient showing on an essential element of the case that it has the burden to prove.") 

(APP 00267-68, 00445-47.) 

B. 	 Summary judgment is appropriate on a claim of negligence. where 
there is no admissible evidence sufficient to create a trial-worthy issue 
of material fact as to the elements including causation. of the cause of 
action. 

Contrary to the Estate's position, Rule 56 of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure 

has a legitimate place in civil litigation, and summary judgment is not disfavored when it is 

apparent that there is no competent evidence to support the plaintiff's case and granting summary 

judgment will enable the court and the parties, as well as a jury, to avoid the substantial, and 

unnecessary, expenditure of time and effort ofa trial. 

In granting Westchester Village's motion for summary judgment, the Circuit Court found 

that "[t]he Plaintiff in this case has pointed to no specific facts demonstrating any trial-worthy 

issue in this case, nor has she demonstrated any need for additional discovery. . . . [T]he failure 

to point to any specific facts that create a genuine issue of material fact means that the Plaintiff 

has failed to carry her burden under Rule 56." (APP 00486; 00493-94.) 

The Estate contends nevertheless that, in its ruling, the Circuit Court erroneously decided 

questions of proximate cause and intervening or superseding cause as a matter of law, when 
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genuine issues of material fact were presented for resolution by a jury. The Circuit Court was 

correct in its determination that absolutely no admissible evidence sufficient to place elements of 

the Estate's negligence claim against Westchester Village before the jury was presented in 

opposition to the motion for summary judgment on the Second Amended Complaint, and so 

summary judgment in accordance with Rule 56 was appropriate. Specifically, the Estate 

produced no admissible evidence to raise a jury question whether Carrie Bragg was driving her 

own vehicle when it struck Raymond Michael, whether Cole Valentine consumed alcoholic 

beverages at Westchester Village, or whether Ms. Bragg negligently entrusted her vehicle to Mr. 

Valentine. 

This Court has recognized that summary judgment is appropriate in any case, including 

those involving claims of negligence and issues of proximate cause, in which ''the moving party 

makes a properly supported motion for summary judgment and can show by affirmative 

evidence that there is no genuine issue of a material fact," but the nonmoving party fails to "(1) 

rehabilitate the evidence attacked by the moving party, (2) produce additional evidence showing 

the existence of a genuine issue for trial, or (3) submit an affidavit explaining why further 

discovery is necessary as provided in Rule 56(f) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure." 

Williams v. Precision Coil, syi. pt. 3. See a/so, e.g., Parkette, Inc. v. Micro Outdoors Advert., 

LLC, 217 W. Va. 151, 156, 157, 617 S.E.2d 501,506,507 (2005) (affirming circuit court's grant 

of summary judgment on negligence claim, where lower court found no duty owed by defendant 

to plaintiff and no evidence was produced to support any such duty); Kiser v. Caudill, 215 W. 

Va. 403, 411, 599 S.E.2d 826, 834 (2004)(summary judgment was proper in a medical 

negligence case, where plaintiff did not produce an expert witness to testify regarding essential 

elements of standard of care and a breach of standard of care); Withrow v. West Virginia 
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University Hospitals, Inc., 213 W.Va. 48, 52, 576 S.E.2d 527,531 (2002)(in medical negligence 

case, summary judgment was proper, where plaintiff produced no evidence to support elements 

of standard of care and breach thereof). 

In Jividen v. Law, 194 W. Va. 705,461 S.E.2d 451 (1995), a wrongful death action, the 

Court succinctly held, with respect to a negligence claim, that 

[t]he mere fact that a particular cause of action contains elements which typically 
raise a factual issue for jury determination does not automatically immunize the 
case from summary judgment. The plaintiff must still discharge his or her burden 
under West Virginia Rule of Civil Procedure 56(c) by demonstrating that a 
legitimate jury question, i.e. a genuine issue of material fact, is present. 

Id., syi. pt. 1. 

Simply stated, the Estate did not meet its burden in response to the motion for summary 

judgment in this case, and so judgment as a matter of law in Westchester Village's favor was 

appropriate. 

1. 	 The material produced by the Estate in response to 
Westchester Village's motion for summary judgment was not 
sufficient to create a genuine issue of material fact. 

The Estate presented no admissible or usable evidence in response to the motion for 

summary judgment sufficient to create any genuine issue of material fact or from which a jury 

might have made permissive inferences, to support the elements of its claim against Westchester 

Village. See Williams, 194 W. Va. at 60 n.l0, in part, 459 S.E.2d at 337 n.l0, in part ("We need 

not credit purely conclusory allegations, indulge in speculation, or draw improbable 

inferences."). That is not to say, however, that the Estate did not submit to the lower court 

material that it characterized as evidence that created a genuine issue of material fact. 

The Estate contends that the statement that Cole Valentine gave to police the day of Mr. 

Michael's death creates a genuine issue of some unspecified material fact, because, according to 
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the Estate, the investigating officer's (now Chief of Police Shine) deposition testimony and 

contemporaneous notes show that Mr. Valentine's story changed during the course of his police 

interview. (Petitioner's Brief, 3.) The notes of Mr. Valentine's interview do not clearly show a 

"change" in Mr. Valentine's story, as they clearly indicate that immediately after Carrie Bragg's 

car struck Raymond Michael, he believed that he had struck a "bag of trash" or "a white hefty 

bag" and did not believe Carrie Bragg and disagreed with Marshall Morris, who was following in 

his vehicle, when they told Mr. Valentine that they thought the car had struck a body. (APP 

00355-57.) It appears that, as Mr. Valentine's police interview continued, he explained that he 

came to an awareness that the car might have hit a body, and then he knew, when he saw the 

news later that day. (APP 00355-57.) Even assuming that Mr. Valentine's story completely 

changed concerning his awareness that the car had struck Mr. Michael, however, any such 

inconsistency would not create a question of material fact, inasmuch as there still is no question 

that Mr. Valentine was driving Ms. Bragg's vehicle when it struck Mr. Michael in the early 

morning hours of March 30, 2014. 

The Estate also points to the investigating officer's and Carrie Bragg's deposition 

testimony that Mr. Valentine and his friends in the following vehicle stopped twice to talk after 

Ms. Bragg's car struck Mr. Michael. (petitioner's Brief, 3.) Again, there is no suggestion how 

that fact is supposed to be material to the issues presented in this case. It does not create a 

genuine issue of fact as to the identity of the driver of the vehicle that struck Mr. Michael, 

whether Mr. Valentine consumed alcohol at Westchester Village, whether Mr. Valentine was 

intoxicated, or any other fact of consequence in this case. 

In addition, the Estate contends that ''text messages" exchanged among Mr. Valentine 

and others, provide evidence that creates a genuine issue of material facts, sufficient to preclude 
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summary judgment in Westchester Village's favor, although it is generally unclear precisely 

what issue of fact these "text messages" is supposed to reveal. The "text messages" were 

attached to the Estate's response to Westchester Village's motion for summary judgment on the 

Second Amended Complaint as Exhibit 1. (APP 00377-00442.) The contents of this exhibit, 

however, do not confoml to the requirements of Rule 56 and the decisions of this Court applying 

the Rule, and, therefore, do not demonstrate in any respect that they would have been admissible 

in evidence. (APP 00447-48.) See Aluise v. Nationwide Mut. Fire Ins. Co., syl. pt. 1,218 W.Va. 

498,625 S.E.2d 260 (2005) ("Rule 56(c) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure does not 

contain an exhaustive list of materials that may be submitted in support of summary judgment. In 

addition to the material listed by that rule, a trial court may consider any material that would be 

admissible or usable at trial."); cf W. Va. R. Civ. P. 56(e)("Supporting and opposing affidavits 

shall be made on personal knowledge, shall set forth such facts as would be admissible in 

evidence...." (Emphasis added.)). 

Further, this Court has noted that 

[i]t is generally recognized that when ruling on a motion for summary judgment, 
''the trial court is precluded from considering any documentary evidence of a type 
not specified in the summary judgment rule. Evidentiary material not specifically 
authorized by the summary judgment rule may be considered by the trial court ... 
if it is properly incorporated into an affidavit by reference." 49 C.J.S. Judgments § 
328 (2009) (emphasis added). See also Charles Alan Wright, Arthur R. Miller & 
Mary Kay Kane, Federal Practice and Procedure, vol. lOA, § 2721 (Civil 3d ed., 
1998). Those materials specifically referred to in Rule 56(c) of the West Virginia 
Rules of Civil Procedure (hereinafter "Rule 56") are the pleadings, any 
depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file as well as 
affidavits. This Court has recognized and held that Rule 56( c) "does not contain 
an exhaustive list of materials that may be submitted in support of summary 
judgment, . . . [and] a trial court may consider any material that would be 
admissible or useable at trial." Syl. Pt. 1, Aluise v. Nationwide Mut. Fire Ins. Co., 
218 W.Va. 498, 625 S.E.2d 260 (2005). In order to make that determination, the 
authenticity of documents presented for the court's consideration at the summary 
judgment stage needs to be established. Ordinarily, "[u]nswom and unverified 
documents are not of sufficient evidentiary quality to be given weight ill 
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detennining whether to grant a motion for summary judgment. Therefore, 
documents that do not state that they are made under oath and do not recite that 
the facts stated are true are not competent summary judgment evidence." 49 C.J.S. 
Judgments § 328 (2009). See also 11 Moore's Federal Practice, § 56.l0[4][c] (3d 
ed. 2010) (in context of summary judgment, unless a document outside of the 
record "is self-authenticating and intrinsically trustworthy on its face (a rare 
situation), this type of document must be introduced by affidavit to ensure its 
consideration by the court."). 

Ramey v. Contractor Enterprises, Inc., 225 W. Va. 424,433 n.l5 (in part), 693 S.E.2d 789, 798 

n.l5 (in part) (201O)(emphasis added). (APP 00447-48.) 

Accordingly, Exhibit I submitted in opposition to Westchester Village's motion for 

summary judgment on the Second Amended Complaint does not show either what the document 

purports to be or its source, or whether it is a true copy of what it purports to be. For these and 

perhaps additional reasons, it is not material that would be admissible or useable at trial. The 

material that was submitted as Exhibit I in opposition to Westchester Village's motion for 

summary judgment, therefore, could not be used to create genuine issue of material fact under 

Rule 56. 

Even if the Estate's exhibit were otherwise deemed to be sufficient evidence under Rule 

56 to challenge Westchester Village's motion for summary judgment, the Estate has pointed to 

no specific facts within the "text messages" that create a genuine issue of material fact. 

Furthermore, when determining whether a genuine issue of material fact exists, the Court is not 

required to engage in speculation, conjecture, or conspiracy theory, but need only consider 

reasonably probable inferences that might be suggested by the evidence before it. Williams, 194 

W. Va. at 60 n.10, 459 S.E.2d at 337 n.10. 

The contents of the ''text messages" document submitted in opposition to the motion for 

summary judgment on the Second Amended Complaint are so varied and ambiguous that the 

inferences suggested by the Estate amount to nothing more than speculation and conjecture, 
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which would not be sufficient to create a question of fact as to any element of the Estate's cause 

of action and, therefore, to defeat Westchester Village's motion for summary judgment. (APP 

00447-50.) See also Dellinger v. Pediatrix Med. Grp., P.C., 232 W. Va. 115, 122, 750 S.E.2d 

668, 675 (2013)(noting that unsupported speculation is not sufficient to defeat a summary 

judgment motion (internal quotation marks and brackets omitted) (quoting Williams, 194 W. Va. 

at 61,459 S.E.2d at 338 (quoting Felty v. Graves-Humphreys Co., 818 F.2d 1126, 1128 (4th Cir. 

1987))); Gibson v. Little Gen. Stores, Inc., 221 W. Va. 360, 364, 655 S.E.2d 106, 110 (2007) 

(affirming summary judgment for defendant, where jury could not consider plaintiff's claim and 

evidence without basing its verdict entirely on speculation and conjecture). 

The Estate's suggestion that a ''text message" reading, "Drink don't drive do the 

watermelon crawl," provides evidence that Cole Valentine was intoxicated at the time Carrie 

Bragg's vehicle struck Raymond Michael, based on the lyrics of a song, (Petitioner'S Brief, 18 

(citing APP 00423)), is highly speculative, at best. Likewise, it is sheer conjecture that a ''text 

message" asking, "Am I supposed to tell him 'absolutely everything,' or shud itell [should I tell] 

him what everybody's else is saying?," (petitioner'S Brief, 18 (citing APP 00408)), is evidence 

of any fact material to the issues in this case or from which a reasonably probable inference of 

any material fact could be drawn. The Estate did not suggest the genuine issue of material fact 

this evidence is supposed to create, sufficient to preclude summary judgment. (Petitioner'S 

Brief, 17; APP 003442-43.) The Estate's notion of evidence sufficient place an issue before a 

jury, simply does not rise to the level required by Rule 56. 

In response to the motion for summary judgment, the Estate also presented, and continues 

to rely on, evidence that it argues is sufficient to create a genuine issue of material fact 

precluding summary judgment, because it calls into question the credibility and honesty of Cole 
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Valentine. The evidence relating to Mr. Valentine's alcohol consumption on the evening prior to 

Mr. Michael's death includes Mr. Valentine's own statement that he had had one or two beers 

approximately four hours before leaving Goal Rush at 2:00 to 2:10 a.m. (APP 00267, 00301, 

00306,00308-09,00314,00315.) In addition to deposition testimony that Cole Valentine did not 

attend the fraternity dinner at Westchester Village on the evening of March 29, 2014, Carrie 

Bragg also testified in her deposition that she had not seen him drinking at Goal Rush and did not 

believe that Mr. Valentine was intoxicated. (APP 00266, 00290-91, 00292, 00295, 00297, 

00304,00306.) In response to the motion for summary judgment, the Estate did not question and 

presented no evidence to challenge Carrie Bragg's capacity to testify to these matters, or even 

her ability to exercise sufficient judgment to be able to evaluate Mr. Valentine's status. 

Notwithstanding the undisputed evidence that there was no indication that Cole Valentine 

was intoxicated or impaired while operating Carrie Bragg's vehicle, the Estate nevertheless 

argues that "Mr. Valentine provided deposition testimony that could convince a trier of fact that 

he was dishonest about the night in issue, because he has historically been dishonest about where 

he was and whether he drank." (Petitioner's Brief, 4-5 (citing APP 00361-62).) In particular, the 

Estate points to Mr. Valentine's deposition testimony in which he acknowledges that he 

concealed, not that he affirmatively lied about, his consumption of alcoholic beverages from his 

father when he was in high school. (Petitioner's Brief, 5 (quoting APP 00361-62).) 

Unquestionably, the credibility of a witness is for the fmder of fact to determine. When 

all of the substantive, material evidence in the case on a given point is consistent, and there are 

no conflicts to be resolved, however, a lack of credibility on a given issue cannot create 

evidence, and a question concerning a witness's credibility alone does not create a genuine issue 

ofmaterial fact sufficient to defeat a motion for summary judgment under Rule 56.

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